Aus der

Tierklinik für Fortpflanzung

des Fachbereichs Veterinärmedizin der Freien Universität Berlin

Teaching Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine -

New insights into critical thinking, implementation of writing of knowledge synthesis and use of mobile devices by students

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Grades eines

Doktors der Veterinärmedizin

an der

Freien Universität Berlin

vorgelegt von

Cindy Kasch

Tierärztin

aus Eberswalde -Finow

Berlin 2017

Journal-Nr.: 3946

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung des Fachbereichs Veterinärmedizin

der Freien Universität Berlin

Dekan: Univ.-Prof. Dr. Jürgen Zentek,

Erster Gutachter: PD Dr. med. vet. Sebastian Arlt

Zweiter Gutachter: Prof. Dr. Lothar Kreienbrock

Dritter Gutachter: Univ.-Prof. Dr. Mathab Bahramsoltani

Deskriptoren (nach CAB-Thesaurus):

evidence-based medicine (MeSH), data communication, data collection, veterinary education, telecommunications, information technology, databases, surveys

Tag der Promotion: 05.04.2017

Dieses Werk ist urheberrechtlich geschützt.

Alle Rechte, auch die der Übersetzung, des Nachdruckes und der Vervielfältigung des Buches, oder Teilen daraus, vorbehalten. Kein Teil des Werkes darf ohne schriftliche Genehmigung der Autorin in irgendeiner Form reproduziert oder unter Verwendung elektronischer Systeme verarbeitet, vervielfältigt oder verbreitet werden. Die Wiedergabe von Gebrauchsnamen, Warenbezeichnungen, usw. in diesem Werk berechtigt auch ohne besondere Kennzeichnung nicht zu der Annahme, dass solche Namen im Sinne der Warenzeichen- und Markenschutz-Gesetzgebung als frei zu betrachten wären und daher von jedermann benutzt werden dürfen. This document is protected by copyright law. No part of this document may be reproduced in any form by any means without prior written authorization of the author.

Meiner Familie

Ein einzelnes Tier zu retten verändert nicht die Welt, aber die ganze Welt verändert sich für dieses eine Tier!

Spruch: Herkunft unbekannt

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INRODU	JCTION		
		1.1	Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine	1
		1.2	Teaching Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine	1
		1.3	Critical thinking and discussion in veterinary education	2
		1.4	New technology in veterinary education	3
		1.5	Critically Appraised Topics	4
2.	RESEAL	RCH PAPERS		6
	2.1.	Do veterinar	y students see a need for more in-course discussion?	6
		A survey.		
		2.1.1	Summary	7
		2.1.2	Keywords	7
		2.1.3	Introduction	7
		2.1.4	Material and methods	8
		2.1.5	Results	9
		2.1.6	Discussion	10
		2.1.7	Figures and tables	14
		2.1.8	Acknowledgements	17
		2.1.9	References	17
	2.2	The use of m	obile devices and online services by German veterinary	
		students		20
		2.2.1	Summary	21
		2.2.2	Keywords	21
		2.2.3	Introduction	22
		2.2.4	Material and methods	22
		2.2.5	Results	24
		2.2.6	Discussion	25
		2.2.7	Figures and tables	30
		2.2.8	Acknowledgements	32
		2.2.9	References	32

	2.3	Evaluation o	f a CAT-database and expert appraisal of CATs	
		developed by	students	36
		2.3.1	Summary	37
		2.3.2	Keywords	37
		2.3.3	Introduction	37
		2.3.4	Material and methods	39
		2.3.5	Results	42
		2.3.6	Discussion	44
		2.3.7	Acknowledgements	50
		2.3.8	References	50
		2.3.9	Figures and tables	54
3.	DISCUSS	SION		58
		3.1	Teaching Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine	58
		3.2	Barriers to teaching and applying EBVM	59
		3.3	Critical thinking and discussion in veterinary education	60
		3.4	New technology in veterinary education	60
		3.5	Critically Appraised Topics	62
	CITIZ AND ALL	DV		. -
4.	S CIVILIVIII			65
5.		MENFASSUN		67
6.	REFERE	NCES FOR I	NTRODUCTION AND DISCUSSSION	70
7.	INDEX C	OF PUBLICAT	ΓΙΟΝ	76
8.	ACKNO	WLEDGEME	NTS	77
9.	DECLAR	RATION OF I	NDEPENDENCE	78

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine

Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine (EBVM) is a relatively new field¹ in veterinary curricula and veterinary practice². Although the roots of Evidence-Based Medicine (EBM) date back more than 150 years, the modern concepts of EBM have been rapidly and constantly developing in the past two decades³. Healthcare has been steadily moving towards EBM since the term was formally introduced in 1992 by a group led by Gordon Guyatt at McMaster University, Canada⁴, and continuously developed under the direction of David Sackett⁶. EBM has been defined as the conscientious, explicit and judicious use of current best evidence in making decisions regarding the care of individual patients⁷. During the years a variety of expressions have evolved around the term EBM. Those include, for instance, Evidence-Based Practice (EBP), Evidence-Based Nursing (EBN), or Evidenced-Based Veterinary Medicine (EBVM), each one following the same core concept, namely applying the best evidence in order to make the best decision.

In the field of veterinary medicine, however, the concept of EBM emerged only 10 years later^{8, 9} because the concepts developed in human medicine should also be applied to veterinary medicine for scientific, medico-legal, economic and ethical reasons^{8, 10}. The aim of EBVM is to base clinical decisions regarding diagnostic procedures and treatments on recent, valid, clinically relevant research data^{1, 11}. Consequently, EBVM is primarily of interest and relevance to veterinary practitioners and clinicians¹². Based on the experiences in the various fields of human medicine, veterinarians should expect that the base of evidence for veterinary treatments is likely to expand rapidly, with positive expectations for improved treatment results¹³.

1.2 Teaching Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine

Veterinary practitioners and clinicians have to use optimal diagnostics, interventions and medications to examine and to treat their patients¹¹. This statement is in accordance with claims formulated for human medicine. In that regard, claims, characteristics and approaches concerning teaching EBM and EBVM are combined in the following chapters.

In order to prepare the veterinarian for practicing EBVM, veterinary schools should teach students how to obtain and evaluate the best evidence and to apply it to their own cases, as it is shown by Steele et al.¹². This means that special courses on EVBM including search, appraisal,

and application of scientific information since traditional teaching methods usually do not address skills such as the ability to critically read research literature¹⁴. EBVM concepts can and should be incorporated into all preclinical and clinical courses¹⁵. It has been suggested to present the basics in the first year of study which are then repeated and utilized in for example case based clinical teaching and journal clubs¹⁶. This approach is in accordance with several authors that have claimed a paradigm shift moving from traditional education to curricula focused on the integration of EBM¹⁴.

One reason that EBM gained popularity is that it can be regarded as a way to better connect medical education and clinical practice³. Obstacles to good clinical care are factors such as the explosion of new knowledge and the barriers to translation of new information to the clinician¹⁷. In that context, EBM is regarded being an approach that helps clinicians to manage the high amount of new scientific information¹⁸. This means clinicians do not only need skills in observation, empathy with patients, communication with clients and manual dexterity, but also skills of utilizing new knowledge¹³.

Some online resources have been published that aim to support teaching and self-learning of EBVM like www.ebvmlearning.org. This open access tutorial has been developed by an international team of experts and contains comprehensive information about the basics and clinical implications of EBVM. It can be used in whole or in part as standalone teaching modules to support EBVM teaching or continuing professional development¹⁹.

1.3 Critical thinking and discussion within veterinary education

Historically, veterinary professional education has relied more on establishing solid foundations in physiology and pathophysiology and providing venues for experiential learning than it has on rigorous analytic training and solving problems¹¹. Rather than merely transferring information, however, veterinary education should stimulate and motivate students and encourage them to think²⁰. Still, it may be questioned if all lectures, seminars, and elective courses really meet those requirements. Frontal teaching is still applied frequently in veterinary education²¹ which only rarely stimulates student interaction²². Besides, it does not support independent thinking and critical questioning²³.

An alternative to frontal teaching is working in small groups. Teamwork skills are regarded as essential for graduates²⁴. This may be especially be true for curricula such as offered by business schools but surely also for veterinary students. Hence, group learning is an attempt to introduce students to real-world experiences before graduation²⁵.

1.4 New technology within the veterinary education

The rapid development of new communication technologies has influenced veterinary education already^{26, 27}. For example learning management platforms such as Blackboard (www.blackboard.com) which enable lecturers to provide teaching materials online represent such a technological advance. Other well-known advantages of the integration of new technology into education is that it enables students to study independently from location and time²⁶.

The internet is an exhaustive tool for information search, also including an increasing number of open access resources that may be used by students and practitioners. In that regard it may be advantageous to train searching, accessing and appraising online information. Special attention has to be paid to the fact that the internet provides much information of doubtful validity and applicability.

Moreover, technology has greatly enhanced the ability of patient owners to access scientific literature and become well informed²⁸. Also the confrontation with well or false informed patient owners should be addressed in veterinary teaching in future.

According to Cole-Lewis and Kershaw²⁹ across the world in both developing and developed countries more and more people are gaining access to the Internet via mobile devices. This enables new possibilities of mobile teaching and information access.

The information communication technology (ICT) also provides new pedagogical possibilities for under and postgraduate's veterinary students including continuous professional education³⁰, e.g. lifelong learning³¹. In that regard some Apps have been developed for veterinarians that address students and/or practitioners. A list of recently available tools is published online at: https://hsl.lib.umn.edu/vetmed/help/veterinary-medicine-apps or http://www.vettechcolleges.com/blog/20-apps-for-veterinarians. Some of the presented Apps, available for iPhone or Android, are meant to support practitioners as well as students in information access and also decision making concerning diagnosis and treatment. For this purpose several Apps feature calculators to help, for example, determine drug dosages, constant rate infusions or drip rates. Others have note-taking tools, guides for terminology, and news feeds or updates³². Another recently tested approach to encourage active learning is via game-based applications. A survey conducted by Boutilier et al.³³ revealed a preponderantly positive response by the test persons regarding applicability and usefulness. Hence, they were also positive about the use of game-based educational applications for mobile devices as part of their

curriculum. However, there are also critical voices concerning medical Apps. According to recent studies, the majority (65 - 86%) of such tools is lacking a medical expert involvement during their development. Moreover, general concerns have come up regarding reliability and accuracy of their the medical content and, hence, potential consequences for patient safety³⁴.

1.5 Critically Appraised Topic

One helpful tool to facilitate the implementation of EBM by practitioners is summaries of recent knowledge like Critically Appraised Topics (CATs)⁴. CATs were first developed by three residents working with David Sackett in an effort to create a method to efficiently summarize the results of a research article³⁵. Being nowadays one of the main formats for sharing information in EBP³⁵, a CAT is a standardized summary of research evidence organized around a clinical question^{17, 35, 36}, generated from a specific patient situation or problem¹⁵. Usually the development of a CAT comprises the following steps^{15, 36-38}:

- Development of a clinical question considering the recommendations of the PICO approach (addressing the items: patient or problem, intervention, comparison intervention and outcome)³⁹,
- 2. Searching for relevant literature and documentation of search strategies and results,
- 3. Retrieving the most promising articles, book chapters or other information from the library or the internet,
- 4. Careful reading and assessing the quality of the information,
- 5. Assembling the information, and formulating an answer (conclusion) to the initially formulated question.

The results can be published in journals or online databases. This way, CATs can provide easy access to the scientific literature for practitioners and clinicians who do not have either the time or specialized training to critically appraise and draw conclusions from the scientific literature³⁵.

Online sources such as CAT- and literature databases can be easily integrated in the education, enhancing the implementation of EBVM. According to Ismach et al. ¹⁶ letting students produce CATs is an excellent approach for teaching EBM. In addition, the authors expect that if the

topic is drawn from a patient of the students, the motivation and learning success of the exercise will be much greater. Also in veterinary education the writing of CATs by students has been successfully implemented in previous projects^{1, 15}. Evaluation of a previous project revealed that students were able to find, retrieve, appraise and interpret the results of published scientific studies¹⁵.

2. RESEARCH PAPERS

The papers are formatted according to the guidelines for authors of the respective Journal.

2.1 Do veterinary students see a need for more in-course discussion? A survey

C. Kasch, P. Haimerl, W. Heuwieser and S. Arlt

*Corresponding author: S. Arlt: Clinic for Animal Reproduction, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Freie Universität, Berlin, Königsweg 65, 14163 Berlin, Germany, PD Dr.Sebastian Arlt, sebastian.arlt@fu-berlin.de

Published in:

Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, summer 2015, Volume 43 No. 2

Please find the original article via the following digital object identifier:

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3138/jvme.0415-053R

2.2 The use of mobile devices and online services by German veterinary students

C. Kasch, P. Haimerl, W. Heuwieser and S. Arlt

*Corresponding author: S. Arlt: Clinic for Animal Reproduction, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Freie Universität, Berlin, Königsweg 65, 14163 Berlin, Germany, PD Dr.Sebastian Arlt, sebastian.arlt@fu-berlin.de

Published in:

Veterinary Evidence online, 4.July 2016, Vol. 1, Issue 3

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18849/ve.v1i3.41

URL: https://www.veterinaryevidence.org/index.php/ve/article/view/41/69

2.2.1 Summary

Objective: The research question of our study was to determine adoption and use of mobile devices and online services of veterinary students.

Background: New technologies support learning, communication and information transfer during the pre-professional years and the professional lifetime. Hence, mobile devices may also be a feasible tool for information access for the practitioner at any place and any time, and consequently may support better informed clinical decision making.

Evidentiary value: We conducted a survey among 124 German veterinary medical students in their third year with a median age of 23.0 years.

Methods: The survey was conducted during a lecture and contained 10 questions with preset answers to be ticked and a free text comment section. Participation was voluntary and data procession was performed anonymously.

Results: According to the answers of surveyed third year students 84.7% used a smartphone as a mobile device. The vast majority of the veterinary students used Google, Facebook and WhatsApp besides other applications.

Conclusion: Most students are familiar with mobile devices and the use of social media and information tools. Thus, new learning strategies could be developed and applied that encompasses mobile online learning and information access. These strategies could help to better address different learning types, provide sufficient interactivity and feedback and to enable veterinarians to seek and share information via the internet. However, despite promising results reporting a positive educational effect, these perceptions need to be validated in further research. In addition, it should be assessed in future surveys if veterinarians would use mobile online access to scientific data or Knowledge Summaries for better informed decision making in practice.

Application: Veterinary students and thus the next generation of veterinary practitioners are using mobile devices to a high extent. This paves the way to refine existing and to develop new education strategies. New information tools for mobile devices may help veterinarians to seek and share information. In addition, it might be worthwhile to teach veterinary students and practitioners search and appraisal of online scientific information.

2.2.2 Keywords

education, mobile devices, mobile learning, technology, veterinary education

2.2.3 Introduction

Students frequently use mobile devices for everyday activities such as talking and texting (Applegate, 2010). In 2013, more than 60 billion instant-messages and SMS were communicated every day (Informa, 2013), mostly by teenagers and adolescents (Goodarzi, Ebrahimzadeh, 2012, Herman, 2007). It is expected that this amount will be doubled by 2017 (Juniper Research; eMarketer, 2013). The rapid development of new communication technologies also has a major influence on veterinary education (Short, 2002, Valliyate, Robinson, 2012). Already now, veterinary teaching has profited considerably from advances in information communication technology (Simões, 2010). For example, computerised testing has made significant inroads into veterinary education (Folk, March, 2006). Also, learning management platforms such as Blackboard (www.blackboard.com), which enables lecturers to provide teaching materials online, and information tools like wiki systems (Kolski, Heuwieser, 2015) represent such a technological advance. A well-known advantage of the integration of new technology into education is that it enables students to study independently from location and time (Short, 2002).

Furthermore, technological advance allows the usage of virtual patients as an educational aid, as suggested by Trace et al. (2012) or Schaper et al. (2011). The most important prerequisite for this type of communication is the availability and actual use of adequate technology. According to Cole-Lewis and Kershaw (2010), across the world (in both developing and developed countries) more and more people are gaining access to the Internet via mobile phones. Consequently, more and more people do have access to current medical knowledge. Since this potentially facilitates clinical decision making, it in turn supports the implementation of Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine. However, this means that students need to gain competence in information search and retrieval via the Internet. Little research has been published on how veterinary students actually use mobile devices (Gikas and Grant, 2013). Hence, the research question of our study was to determine adoption and use of mobile devices and online services by veterinary students.

2.2.4 Material and Methods

In March 2014, we conducted a survey among veterinary medical students in their third year. In this term of education the students participate in lectures and seminars offered by the Clinic for Animal Reproduction, Berlin, Germany. At the beginning of a lecture we asked the students

to participate in the survey. We developed the questionnaire according to statements and suggestions made by students that participated in earlier courses and seminars. Participation was voluntary. Students declared informed consent by completing the survey. The project was reviewed and approved by the Ethical Commission of the Charité Hospital associated with Freie Universität Berlin (EA 1/126/16). The students had 15 minutes to answer the questionnaire which contained 10 questions with preset answers to be ticked and a free text comment section (Figure 1). After a short introduction to the study and demographic questions (i.e. age, semester, and gender) three questions addressed the use of mobile devices. The second part dealt with the students' habits and preferences concerning the application of mobile devices. We performed descriptive statistical analysis anonymously using the statistic program SPSS for Windows (Version 22.0; SPSS Inc., Munich, Germany). We performed frequency analysis on the obtained quantitative data. Furthermore, we used cross tables to analyse the students' answers considering both genders. Finally, we analysed the quantitative data using the two tailed Fisher's Exact Test and the Pearson-Chi2-Test. We set the significance level as $\alpha = 0.05$. For a statistical analysis of free text comments we considered them as qualitative data.

2.2.5 Results

In total, 124 of 130 students (101 female and 22 male) completed the questionnaire. One participant did not specify gender, age or semester. Median age of participating students was 23.0 (IQR 22.0 - 25.0). The majority of the students (84.7%) stated to use a smartphone as a mobile device (Table 1).

Table 1: Use of mobile devices and operating systems by third year veterinary students (n = 124)

Use of mobile devices	n	% ²	
Smartphone	108	84.7	
Smartphone and other electronic devices ¹	47	37.9	
Conventional cell phone	18	14.5	
Conventional cell phone and other electronic devices ¹	9	7.2	
Operating systems	n	% ²	
Android	55	44.1	
IOS	51	41.1	
Android and Windows	15	12.1	
IOS and Windows	12	9.7	

¹ other electronic devices: tablet, E-book-reader, laptop

About one fourth of the students (23.4%) additionally utilised tablets, while 8.1% employed a laptop in addition. The given answers revealed that, regarding operating systems, students preferred IOS (41.1%) and Android (44.3%). The majority of students (78.2%) stated to have an Internet flat rate for their mobile device. Concerning online services used via mobile devices, most of the participating students (78.2%) used Google. Moreover, 62.9% of the students accessed the e-learning platform of the FU Berlin (Blackboard) via mobile devices. Similarly, the majority of students (54.0%) frequently used Google maps. Most of the respondents (61.3%) used online dictionaries occasionally while, respectively, 50.8% and 42.7% stated to consult the information platform Wikipedia often and occasionally. In addition to the suggested online services, six students (4.8%) added further options (e.g. veterinary dictionary DocCheck) as free text comments. While 15 students (12.1%) reported to have a Quick response (QR) - code reader, 18 stated to use such a tool, either often (n = 1) or occasionally (n = 17). With 74.2% and 70.2%, respectively, WhatsApp and Facebook turned out to be the most frequently used social media services (Table 2).

² multiple selection was possible; not all questions were answered by all participants

Table 2: Use of social media by third year veterinary students (n = 124)

	Facebook ¹	WhatsApp ¹	Telegram ¹	Skype ¹	Twitter ¹
Often	70.2 %	74.2%	1.6%	12.9%	0.8%
Occasional	18.5%	2.4%	8.9%	53.2%	0.0%
Never	8.9%	19.4%	83.1%	31.5%	92.7%

¹ multiple selection was possible; not all questions were answered by all participants

In line with that, 44.3% of the students referred to WhatsApp as their favorite application software. This was also supported by comments in the free text comment section. Moreover, more than half of the students (53.2%) occasionally used Skype; a software allowing free instant messaging and voice or video calls. On the contrary, only few students indicated a frequent or occasional use of social media like Viber (3.2%), Talk (1.6%), Twitter (0.8%), Instagram (8.9%), Telegram (8.9%) or Snapchat (2.4%). More than one-third of the students spent 2 to 4 hours per day online via mobile devices. The majority of the students (68.5%) indicated that they answer incoming messages only when they find time to do this. Veterinary online applications wished for by the responding students included a "laboratory data App" (4.8%) or learning Apps (4.8%), that were not further specified.

2.2.6 Discussion

Mobile learning and information retrieval has been growing internationally in visibility and significance (Traxler, 2007, 2010, 2012). Therefore, we wanted to investigate if German students of veterinary medicine have adopted the use of mobile devices as well. Current mobile devices are designed to allow users to enter and access data like contacts and memos, to send and receive messages, to view documents and pictures, or to access the web (Kukulska-Hulme, 2005). In 2013, 96% of people in Germany aged between 12 and 19 owned a smartphone (Kutscher, 2014). In our survey, the share of veterinary students who stated to use a smartphone regularly resembled those findings (84.7%). Moreover, the fact that the majority of the participants (78.2%) had an internet flat rate was in accordance with the findings of Wallace et al. (2012). The finding that the vast majority has mobile access to the internet indicates that online professional tools designed for mobile devices have a great potential to reach the majority of veterinary students and also presumably a growing proportion of practitioners and clinicians in Germany.

Regarding online education, the concept of 'anytime' and 'anyplace' offered by mobile learning may be an important pedagogical aspect (Bidin and Ziden, 2012). As emphasized by Smith

(2003), e-learning should accommodate different learning styles and provide sufficient interactivity, testing, and feedback to engage the user. Personalised learning can recognise diversity and individuality of the students and account for different learning styles and approaches (Traxler, 2007). One way this can be accomplished is by an assortment of tools that learners can combine to best suit their individual learning styles to increase their academic success (Rodriguez, 2011). A more recent interview-based survey showed that 90% of the participants used mobile computing devices and that this usage was believed to have a positive educational effect (Wallace, Clark, 2012). Since an interview allows face to face communication and immediate feed-back for both interviewer and interviewee, such an approach might be beneficial for further research in this area.

According to our findings, the vast majority of the veterinary students used the search engine Google (96.7%), either frequently (78.2%) or occasionally (18.5%). Those data deviate from Wallace et al. (2012), who found that 50% of those participating in their survey stated to use Google. However, their study was conducted in 2012 and the growing popularity of Google might at least partly account for these differences. Furthermore, the authors did not only interview students in their survey, but also residents and members of the faculty. Hence, as shown previously we can assume that the resulting higher average age explains for the lower usage of online media (Wolff, 2006) like the search engine (Pew Research Center. n.d., 2011). Those two aspects might also explain why only 15% of their participants used the encyclopedia Wikipedia, whereas more than half of our participants (50.8%) stated to do so. Since Wikipedia is not specific for veterinary medicine, a wiki-system designed for veterinary purposes may be advantageous (Kolski, Heuwieser, 2015). A special issue connected with this topic is the quality of provided information. It is essential to train students to critically assess information, especially if it is found on webpages or wiki systems with unknown expertise of the author. Clinical decisions based on false, incomplete or outdated data may be highly detrimental for the health and well-being of the animals.

QR-Code readers, a mobile device tool enabling the scanning of bar codes (Lorenzi, Vaidya, 2014, Ramsden, 2008), were not popular according to our survey. QR-Codes enable a quick uptake of data in a compact fashion (Lorenzi, Vaidya, 2014) or visiting a specific website without typing the address of the webpage. With regard to our survey, only 12.1% of the veterinary students used such a tool. These data correspond with earlier findings where only 2% of students had scanned a QR code with their device (Ramsden, 2008). Different promising recommendations for the use of QR-Codes within a lecture or course have been published. For example, students may easily get access to handouts, additional online presentations or

feedback questions by scanning a QR-Code integrated into a presentation (Ramsden, 2008). Another application may be a direct link to standard operation procedures or specific additional information. Surprisingly, in our survey, there were more students stating to use QR-Codes (14.5%) than having installed a QR code reader on their device. This discrepancy may indicate that some students did not read the question carefully. On the other hand, some students may have used this tool with the device of someone else or have uninstalled the reader.

A majority of the participants stated to frequently use Facebook (70.2%) or WhatsApp (74.2%). Both applications are reported to rank among the most popular ones used by young people in Germany (Kutscher, 2014, Roblyer, McDaniel, 2010). Also, 44.3% of the students referred to WhatsApp as their favorite application software. WhatsApp enables users to send and receive text messages, images, audio and video files (Church and de Oliveira, 2013). Membership of online social networks has recently exploded at an exponential rate (Cheung, Pui-Yee Chiu 2010). According to Facebook reports, they had 1.44 billion users in the first three months of 2015, out of which 1.25 billion additionally and 581 million exclusively used mobile access (Facebook, 2015a, Facebook, 2015b). As reported by Pempek et al. (2009), students use Facebook approximately 30 min per day for study purposes. Via WhatsApp, more than 10 billion messages are sent per day and it is one of the most popular paid Apps across all mobile platforms (Church and de Oliveira, 2013). Concerning possible benefits of integrating online tools into education, Greenhow (2011) emphasised that social utilities do not only have a social effect, but can also have a positive impact on learning outcomes. However, this potential positive impact on learning success should be assessed in future research, especially since current information of practical relevance is increasingly shared via social media. By allowing an almost real-time interaction between students and instructors (Gikas and Grant, 2013), the integration of social tools may promote a more student-centred course (Greenhow, 2011). This live contact with others also allows direct conversations on a topic or issue (Gikas and Grant, 2013, Traxler, 2007), and by that may support the concept of collective learning and critical discussion (Levy, 2001). Furthermore, using the highly interactive knowledge sharing features of a virtual community can increase the student's learning motivation (Wasko and Faraj, 2005). According to a study by Wu et al. (2014), the diverse resources provided in virtual communities promoted critical thinking, problem analysis, and problem-solving skills of the researched nursing students. With regard to our survey, more than one-third of the students (36.3%) spent two to four hours per day online with their mobile devices.

Some students stated that they would like to have a "laboratory data App" or other learning Apps. That circumstance that only a small proportion of surveyed students suggested new tools

may be due to the fact that only few Apps already exist for veterinary purposes or that they are rarely used. Therefore, the students may not be aware of the possibilities such Apps may provide. This issue should be surveyed in a future project. We assume that the development of such tools together with the involvement of students in the creative process might foster their motivation and consequently increase their learning outcome (Bidin and Ziden, 2012), and at the same time increase the number of applicable learning and information tools. Overall, the use of the new technology may offer the possibility to consider new learning strategies (Bidin and Ziden, 2012, Short, 2002). However, studies which attempted to systematically assess the learning success of online and mobile teaching compared to the traditional approach have hardly been published. In addition, it has to be assessed if information tools would be accepted and used by practitioners. However, it sounds plausible that a practitioner may see benefits in an App that provides dosages or other information and is accessible on-site by a mobile phone while examining the patient. In addition, online tools offering current and easily accessible research syntheses may support transfer of new knowledge into practice and enable a just in time information search. In that regard, it might be worthwhile to train the search and appraisal of online scientific information.

In spite of various interesting findings, we are aware of limitations of our survey. The small number of male students, for example, caused an uneven gender distribution (22 male vs. 101 female). Furthermore, only veterinary students of the Free University of Berlin in their third year were included. Also, the fact that many questions offered the possibility to tick more than one answer may have led to bias. However, the objective of the study was to research the distribution and use of mobile devices, and a survey is likely to be one of the best methods to acquire valuable and evaluable data. Considering that objective, we inevitably had to face the uneven gender distribution typical for veterinary schools worldwide (Kostelnik, 2010).

To sum it up, mobile devices have found its way into the everyday life of veterinary students. As shown in our survey students valued the new possibilities of online communication. Hence, the development of online learning tools and information platforms meeting the specific demands of veterinary medicine should be promoted. However, some authors criticise that mobile learning should only represent a supplement since it might imply learning across contexts and at different times, resulting in fragmented knowledge and incomplete schemata (Gikas and Grant, 2013, Tella, 2003, Traxler, 2010). Overall, the integration of mobile devices in education may assist most students in their learning (Gikas and Grant, 2013).

In conclusion, veterinary students (equivalent to the next generation of veterinary practitioners) are using mobile devices to a high extent. This paves the way to refine already existing and to develop new education and information tools for mobile devices. However, conflicts may arise since not every teacher and student is able or willing to handle mobile devices or other new technologies (Gikas and Grant, 2013). Hence, augmenting the importance of new technologies within education might lead to isolation of those not having access to mobile devices. Most importantly, although it is difficult to evaluate mobile learning (Traxler, 2007), further studies are warranted to examine the learning success. In addition, courses at universities should address skills in searching and assessing online information. Finally, it should be assessed in future surveys if veterinarians would use mobile online access to scientific data or Knowledge Summaries for better informed decision making in practice.

2.2.7 Figures and tables

Table 1: Questionnaire to assess the use of mobile devices by German veterinary students

	al data:							
Age: _	Sem	ester:	Sex	:				
Please	tick the boxe	es						
1.	Smartph Tablet E-Book-	ional cell p one Reader	phone					
2.	Which oper	ating syste	m do you u	se?				
	Android IOS (Ap BlackBe Window Other	ople) erry vs						
3.	Do you have	e an Intern	et flat rate f	or your	mobile device?			
	yes no							
4.	Which onlin	ne services	do you use	via you	ır mobile device	?		
		often o	ccasionally	never		often	occasionally	never
	Google				Google Maps			
	Dictionary				Blackboard			
	Wikipedia							
	Other						_	
5.	Do you have	e a QR cod	le reader?					
	yes no	if yes	s, how ofter	ı do yoı	ı use a QR code?	,		
		often	occasiona	ally	never			

6.	Which social media do you use? Please indicate for all that apply!								
		often	occasionally	never	•	often	occasionally	never	
	Facebook				Twitter				
	WhatsApp				Threema				
	Skype				Viber				
	Tango				Talk				
	Snapchat				Instagram				
	Telegram								
	Other								
7.	How much	time pe	r day do you	spend on	line with your	mobil	e devices?		
	Less than $\frac{1}{2}$ more than $\frac{1}{2}$ h $\frac{1}{2}$ h $\frac{2}{4}$ h								
		[
8.	In average,	after wl	hat time inter	val do yo	ou answer a rec	eived 1	message?		
	Immediately	with	nin 5 min	when I h	nave time				
				[
9.	What is you	ır favori	ite App?						
10	. Which vete	erinary o	online tools v	ould you	ı like to have?				

2.2.8 Acknowledgements

Acknowledgments: The authors gratefully thank the participants of the survey. In addition, we thank the students that provided statements and suggestions for the design of the survey. Also, many thanks go to Özlem Cigdem, a student of integrated natural sciences at the Freie Universität, who stayed with us for two weeks in terms of a work practice for helping to develop the questionnaire.

Competing interests: none to declare

The manuscript, or parts of it, have not been and will not be submitted elsewhere for publication.

None of the authors have any financial or personal relationships that could inappropriately influence or bias the content of the paper.

2.2.9 References

- 1. Applegate JS. (2010). The role of mobile electronic devices in radiographer education. Radiol Technol 82(2), 124-31.
- 2. Bidin S, Ziden AA. Adoption and application of mobile learning in the education industry. In: 90 P-SaBS, editor. 6th International Conference on University Learning and Teaching (InCULT 2012). © 2013 ed. Malaysia: Elsevier Ltd.; 2012. p. 720-9.
- 3. Cheung CMK, Pui-Yee Chiu, Lee MKO. (2010). Online social networks: Why do students use facebook? Comp HuBe 27, 1337–43, DOI 10.1016/j.chb.2010.07.028.
- 4. Church K, de Oliveira R. What's up with whatsapp?: comparing mobile instant messaging behaviors with traditional SMS. In: General Chairs:Rohs M, Schmidt A, editors. MobileHCI '13 15th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services Munich, Germany: Association for Computing Maschinery; 2013. p. 352-61.
- 5. Cole-Lewis H, Kershaw T. (2010). Text messaging as a tool for behavior change in disease prevention and management. Epidemiol Rev 32(1), 56-69, DOI 10.1093/epirev/mxq004.
- 6. Facebook. (2015a). Facebook Q1 2015 Results.
 http://files.shareholder.com/downloads/AMDA-NJ5DZ/484348833x0x822961/FD718A09-C312-4605-9A17-1D6EF07BDD5A/FB_Q115EarningsSlides.pdf >. Accessed April 22, 2015

- 7. Facebook. (2015b). Facebook Reports First Quarter 2015 Results. < http://investor.fb.com/releasedetail.cfm?ReleaseID=908022 >. Accessed April 22, 2015.
- 8. Folk LC, March JZ, Hurst RD. (2006). A comparison of linear, fixed-form computer-based testing versus traditional paper-and-pencil-format testing in veterinary medical education. J Vet Med Educ 33(3), 455-64.
- 9. Gikas J, Grant MM. (2013). Mobile computing devices in higher education: Student perspectives on learning with cellphones, smartphones & social media. Internet High Educ 19, 18-26, DOI DOI 10.1016/j.iheduc.2013.06.002.
- 10. Goodarzi M, Ebrahimzadeh I, Rabi A, et al. (2012). Impact of distance education via mobile phone text messaging on knowledge, attitude, practice and self efficacy of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Iran. J Diabetes Metab Disord 11(1), 10, DOI 10.1186/2251-6581-11-10.
- 11. Greenhow C. (2011). Youth, Learning, and Social Media. J Educ Comput Res 45(2), 139-46, DOI Doi 10.2190/Ec.45.2.A.
- 12. Herman S. (2007). SMS reference: keeping up with your clients, The Electronic Library. 25(4), 401-8, DOI DOI 10.1108/02640470710779817.
- 13. Informa nd. (2013). Versand von Instant-Messaging-Nachrichten und SMS weltweit 2011 und 2012 und Prognose für 2013 (in Mrd. pro Tag). http://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/258398/umfrage/prognose-der-instant-messaging-nachrichten-vs-sms-weltweit/>. Accessed April 22nd 2016. Statista.
- 14. Juniper Research; eMarketer. (2013). Mobile message traffic worldwide in 2012 and 2017 (in trillions). < http://www.statista.com/statistics/262005/mobile-message-traffic-worldwide/ >. Accessed April 22nd 2016. Statista.
- 15. K. Kostelnik FL, L. Sötje, W. Heuwieser. (2010). Feminization of the veterinary profession and the shortage of food supply veterinarians. Tierärztl Prax 38, 156–64.
- 16. Kolski D, Heuwieser W, Arlt S. (2015). Use and future of wiki systems in veterinary education?--A survey of lecturers in German-speaking countries. GMS Z Med Ausbild 32(5), Doc54, DOI 10.3205/zma000996.
- 17. Kukulska-Hulme A. (2005). Mobile usability and user experience In: Kukulska-Hulme A, Traxler J, eds. Mobile Learning A handbook for educators and trainers. Abingdon, UK: Routledge, 45-7.

- 18. Kutscher N. (2014). Apps, Facebook, Onlineberatung... Sozial Extra 38(4), 39-41, DOI 10.1007/s12054-014-0093-y.
- 19. Levy P. (2001). Cyberculture. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 151-154.
- 20. Lorenzi D, Vaidya J, Chun S, et al. (2014). Enhancing the government service experience through QR codes on mobile platforms. Gov Inform Q 31(1), 6-16, DOI DOI 10.1016/j.giq.2013.05.025.
- 21. Pempek TA, Yermolayeva YA, Calvert SL. (2009). College students' social networking experiences on Facebook. J Appl Dev Psychol 30(3), 227-38, DOI 10.1016/j.appdev.2008.12.010.
- 22. Pew Research Center. n.d. (2011). Percentage of U.S. internet users accessing search engines as of May 2011, by age group. < http://www.statista.com/statistics/274190/us-search-engine-usage-by-age-group/ >. Accessed April 22nd 2016. Statista.
- 23. Ramsden A. (2008). The use of QR codes in Education: A getting started guide for academics. < http://opus.bath.ac.uk/11408/1/getting_started_with_QR_Codes.pdf >. Accessed Access Date. University of Bath. 1-9.
- 24. Roblyer MD, McDaniel M, Webb M, et al. (2010). Findings on Facebook in higher education: A comparison of college faculty and student uses and perceptions of social networking sites. Internet High Educ 13(3), 134-40, DOI 10.1016/j.iheduc.2010.03.002.
- 25. Rodriguez JE. (2011). Social Media Use in Higher Education: Key Areas to Consider for Educators. J Onl Learn and Teach Vol. 7(No. 4), 539-50.
- 26. Schaper E, Fischer MR, Tipold A, et al. (2011). Case-based assessment in veterinary medicine searching for alternatives to multiple choice questions. Tieraerztl Umschau 66(6), 261-8.
- 27. Short N. (2002). The use of information and communication technology in veterinary education. Res Vet Sci 72(1), 1-6, DOI 10.1053/rvsc.2001.0531.
- 28. Simões JCC. (2010). Information communication technology applied to veterinary education in 3 early XXI century. 3(1), 1-29.
- 29. Smith RD. (2003). The application of information technology in the teaching of veterinary epidemiology and public health. J Vet Med Educ 30(4), 344-50.
- 30. Tella S. (2003). M-learning—Cybertextual Traveling or a Herald of Post-Modern Education? Mobile Learning Helsinki, 7-21.

- 31. Trace C, Baillie S, Short N. (2012). Development and preliminary evaluation of student-authored electronic cases. J Vet Med Educ 39(4), 368-74, DOI 10.3138/jvme.0212-017R.
- 32. Traxler J. (2007). Defining, Discussing, and Evaluating Mobile Learning: The moving finger writes and having writ... . Int Rew Res Open Dist Learn 8(2), 1-12.
- 33. Traxler J. (2010). Distance education and mobile learning: Catching up, taking stock. J Dis Educ 31(2), 129-38, DOI 10.1080/01587919.2010.503362.
- 34. Traxler J. (2012). Sustaining Mobile Learning and its Institutions. In: Parsons D, ed. Refining Current Practices in mobile and Blended Learning: New Applications. Melbourne: Routledge, 2-8.
- 35. Valliyate M, Robinson NG, Goodman JR. (2012). Current concepts in simulation and other alternatives for veterinary education: a review. Vet Med-Czech 57(7), 325-37.
- 36. Wallace S, Clark M, White J. (2012). 'It's on my iPhone': attitudes to the use of mobile computing devices in medical education, a mixed-methods study. BMJ Open 2(4), DOI 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-001099.
- 37. Wasko MM, Faraj S. (2005). Why should I share? Examining social capital and knowledge contribution in electronic networks of practice. Mis Quart 29(1), 35-57.
- 38. Wolff C. (2006). Information Retrieval is for Everybody Beobachtungen und Thesen. In: Schaaf MuA, KD, ed. Lernen, Wissensentdeckung und Adaptivität LWA / Workshop Information Retrieval der GI FGIR 2006 Hildesheimer Informatik-Berichte. Hildesheim Universität Hildesheim, 102-7.
- 39. Wu TT. (2014). Using smart mobile devices in social-network-based health education practice: a learning behavior analysis. Nurse Educ Today 34(6), 958-63, DOI 10.1016/j.nedt.2014.01.013.

2.3 Evaluation of a CAT-database and expert appraisal of CATs developed by students

C. Kasch, P. Haimerl, W. Heuwieser and S. Arlt

*Corresponding author: S. Arlt: Clinic for Animal Reproduction, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Freie Universität, Berlin, Königsweg 65, 14163 Berlin, Germany, PD Dr.Sebastian Arlt, sebastian.arlt@fu-berlin.de

Published in:

Journal of Veterinary Medical Education, (in press)

Please find the original article via the following digital object identifier:

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3138/JVME.0416-083R1

3. DISCUSSION

3.1 Teaching Evidence –Based Veterinary Medicine

Generally, medical teachers are used to traditional teaching models in which they share their knowledge with the students through lectures²¹. However, many authors see a need to develop new teaching strategies in which the student is a more central element of the learning process⁴⁰ and also develops skills in discussion and critical thinking⁴¹. For successful teaching in general, as well as teaching EBVM in particular, teachers should not forget about a student focus. This includes to be able to respond to students' learning needs, the ability to identify exactly what students know and can do⁴². It is well accepted by most educationalists that university education does not produce the "omnicompetent veterinarian" ^{43, 44} and that on day one after graduation a new veterinarian does not have all the competences and skills in all areas involved in the veterinary profession⁴⁵. This means clinicians need skills in observation, empathy with patients and clients, manual dexterity, and also other skills of utilizing new knowledge¹³. These skills need to be trained during veterinary education. In addition, it might be postulated that every graduate should be skilled in applying EBVM in order to be able to achieve the necessary information and/or competences on his or her own in cases a lack of knowledge is identified. This is a prerequisite for lifelong learning and good clinical decision making. EBVM is an important approach to stimulate critical thinking. The five steps of applying EBVM in the specific case management have been outlined in the web resource www.ebvmlearning.org [26th August 2016]⁴⁶:

- 1. Ask defining a clinical question that is of interest for a special clinical care
- 2. Acquire finding the best available evidence to answer the question
- 3. Appraise assessing the quality of the relevant evidence found
- 4. Apply implementing the evidence into clinical practice where appropriate
- 5. Assess evaluating the impact of the implementation and changes in clinical practice

Applying these five steps enables the integration of specific and valid knowledge into clinical reasoning.

At the moment several countries have developed policy initiatives that require health care to be evidence-based and health science students to follow a curriculum that encompasses training of

evidence-based decision making¹⁴. In fact, many veterinary schools do not yet teach EBM as a required course¹, and only few offer this topic as an elective¹.

3.2 Barriers to teaching and applying EBVM

To provide best available care for the animals, each veterinarian should assess the quality of information before implementing results into practice⁴⁷. In fact the practice of evidence-based medicine is a process of life-long and self-directed learning^{5, 48}. In human medicine the need to substantiate medical decisions with scientific evidence and to integrate new knowledge into medical practice was already recognized as early as in the 1970s⁵. However, students and practitioners need also to understand that good evidence may not be available for all decisions they will make in practice¹⁵.

Several barriers to the use, learning and teaching of EBM concepts have been identified by various authors⁴⁹⁻⁵¹. Those barriers include lack of understanding the core concepts of EBVM or several personal aspects such as low motivation or lack of time or interest⁵¹. Also, a lack of opportunity to practice EBM as a student, and negative teacher attitudes towards EBM have been reported⁵⁰. Lam et al⁵⁰. also identified that students tend to learn examination oriented without a critical approach to information. Besides, often textbooks or clinical practice guidelines are used for learning and some authors stated that teachers hardly encourage students to focus EBM approaches⁵⁰.

One possibility to address these barriers is to encourage discussion within the veterinary education, rather than only relying on frontal teaching and the use of textbooks. Discussion of specific or even delicate topics may be implemented to foster students to express their opinions. As stated earlier this may lead to better knowledge retention rates, better communication skills and critical thinking.

One of the main obstacles to the application of EBVM in practice might be the lack of time in everyday practice^{50, 51}. Vandeweerd et al⁸. argue that this fact might rather be due to poor veterinary practice management and possibly poor training of veterinarians, than it is criticism of EBVM itself. That means if veterinarians were better skilled in work with scientific information and tools supporting the implementation of EBVM were available these barriers would lose significance.

3.3 Critical thinking and discussion in veterinary education

As emphasized by Steinert⁵², the training in critical thinking as well as case and content discussion among students and with lecturers may foster the practice of EBVM. Based on this hypothesis, the first study was conducted to learn more about the students' perception concerning discussion within veterinary medicine. Main question was if discussion is considered useful for a successful learning and if students see sufficient opportunity for discussion within seminars and elective courses or if they would welcome more opportunities to discuss specific topics. The results show that the majority of students supported discussion of clinical topics in class. Frequently given reasons were an expected improvement of learning success and the opportunity to look at one topic from different perspectives. This means that students are aware of the possibility that for example several treatment options may exist that have to be weighed against each other in terms of decision making. In contrast, the statement that "Students are encouraged in recent courses and lectures to discuss topics critically", was affirmed by only 24.7%. This means that critical discussion is hardly fostered by lecturers.

Multiple reasons for encouraging discussion within education have been discussed earlier by different authors. Teaching with help of discussion groups is believed to result in a high knowledge retention rates^{53, 54}. This is mainly achieved because discussing certain topics is believed to encourage better integration of new information into existing knowledge⁵⁵. In addition, discussion can be used in collaborative learning. According to Gokhale⁵⁶, in turn all sorts of collaborative learning enhance critical thinking.

Also, it is to advocate that training communication skills, especially in small groups⁵⁷, should be integrated in the education of veterinary medicine, as it is already done in human medical education⁵⁸. The conducted study revealed a considerable dearth of and request for discussion within the veterinary education. Hence, we need new teaching strategies that promote critical communication in order to increase educational success and facilitate the implementation of EBVM.

3.4 New Technology in veterinary education

During the last decades, different new technologies have been introduced. But what is the status quo concerning those technologies within veterinary education in Germany? And is it possible to use new technologies to overcome existing barriers to use and teach EBVM? To investigate these questions, a second study was realized with a survey of focusing on the adoption and use

of mobile devices and online services by veterinary students. Currently, little research has been published on how mobile devices are actually being used by veterinary students⁵⁹. Findings of this survey, such as the use of smartphones as mobile devices by most students and the possession of flat rate internet access indicate a certain competence of German veterinary students regarding the application of technology for mobile devices. In line with those findings, Kutscher⁶⁰ found 96% of the German population aged between twelve and nineteen owning a smartphone in the year 2013. Moreover, the fact that the majority of the participants had an internet flat rate was in accordance with the findings by Wallace et al.⁶¹. In addition, Traxler⁶² pointed out that mobile learning has internationally been growing in visibility and significance in higher education⁶². Collectively, those findings indicate that online educational tools designed for mobile devices have a great potential to reach the majority of veterinary students in Germany. It has been recommended that the concept of 'anytime' and 'anyplace' mobile learning should be utilized to enhance the pedagogical activities in delivering lessons⁶³. Concerning the choice of social media services applied by the surveyed students, WhatsApp and Facebook were stated most often, both reported to rank among the most popular ones used by young people⁶⁴ in Germany⁶⁰. These tools may not be applications of choice for teaching. However, these results show that students are familiar with several social media applications and future learning tools may profit from these skills. As reported by Pempek et al.⁶⁵, students use Facebook approximately 30 min per day for study purposes. Concerning possible benefits of integrating online tools into education, Greenhow⁶⁶ emphasized that social utilities do not only have a social effect, but can also have a positive impact on learning outcome. By allowing an almost real-time interaction between students and instructor⁵⁹, the integration of social tools may promote a more student-centered course⁶⁶. This live contact with others also allows direct discussion of a topic or issue^{59, 62}, and may support the concept of collective learning⁶⁷. Furthermore, using the highly interactive knowledge sharing features of a virtual community can increase student learning motivation⁶⁸. According to a study by Wu et al.⁶⁹, the diverse resources provided in virtual communities promoted critical thinking, problem analysis, and problem-solving skills of the nursing students. Overall, the use of the new technology may offer the possibility of new learning strategies^{26, 63}. At this time, studies attempting to systematically assess the learning success of online and mobile teaching compared to the traditional approach have hardly been published. In conclusion technologies like mobile devices have found their way into the everyday life of veterinary students. For example, those technologies might help to overcome the barrier of time shortage within veterinary practice and education. Currently,

some instructors are developing and improving online learning tools, such as more than 9,000 faculties from 118 countries have contributed to an online library of more than 700 lectures⁷⁰.

After all, the use of mobile devices can complement the traditional learning environment, and encourage students' confidence and active participation in the learning process⁶⁹. However, some authors emphasize that mobile learning should only represent a supplement since it might imply learning across contexts and at different times, resulting in fragmented knowledge and incomplete schemata^{59, 71, 72}. Overall, the integration of mobile devices in education may assist students in their learning⁵⁹ but not completely replace lectures and practical training.

3.5 Critically Appraised Topics

The limited time to keep up to date with the current literature is not an adequate argument against the usefulness of EBM⁸. Moreover searching, accessing and reading literature is not just a fundamental component of EBM, but a fundamental component of being a good veterinarian⁸.

CATs provide easy and quick access to the scientific literature for practitioners and clinicians³⁵. Therefore, a research project was conducted on the preparation of CATs, their application within veterinary education and their collection and publication in a CAT- database. In this context, the developed German language CAT-database was meant to function as a tool for teaching EBVM and also - in future - as an information tool for German-speaking veterinary practitioners. In order to learn more about the attitude towards several aspects of EBVM, a second objective was to survey students' perceptions of group work, CAT development and quality, teaching EBVM, and the quality and usefulness of the database. Finally, to also know more about the usefulness of this approach, experts in the respective field were asked to appraise the quality of CATs developed by the students.

Developing of a CAT by veterinary students

The results of the third study show that, the majority of the students support a more intense integration of critical appraisal of information into the veterinary curriculum. Gillies²⁴ showed that children were more willing to work with others on the assigned tasks in structured groups and they provided more elaborated help and assistance to each other than their peers in the unstructured groups²⁴. Similarly, the students included in the presented study approved to like

working in groups on the development of CATs and being able to exchange opinions and discuss critical topics.

With regard to these findings, writing CATs is a good possibility to train searching and reading of literature and also already existent CATs. To facilitate and through that maybe promote critical appraisal of literature developed checklists can be used. According to these findings, the participating students considered the provided checklists to be useful²⁸.

To conclude, reading and developing knowledge summaries like CATs can foster the understanding and practical application of EBP.

CAT-database and the evaluation by experts

With the use of resources on the World Wide Web becoming common practice, several academic and healthcare organizations have built online CAT libraries⁴. Such databases allow a quick and easy provision with evidence-based medical information⁷³. Thus, after the development of CATs by veterinary students, a next step in this research project was the collection of the CATs in a database. In particular, the objective was the development and evaluation of a German language CAT-database that could be used as a tool for teaching EBVM and also as an information source for German-speaking veterinary practitioners.

The majority of the students and experts (strongly) agreed that the developed CAT database is well structured and user-friendly. This is, among other reasons, presumably due to the fact that it is also accessible via handheld computers (PDAs), tablets or smartphones⁷⁴. Consequently, it has the potential to provide practitioners with ready access to up to date, high-quality evidence at the point of care⁷⁴. To further improve the databases user-friendliness, a registration routine that enables also practitioners and clinicians to access the database is recently under development.

Most experts found the formulated clinical questions to be relevant. 9 out of 13 CATs were graded as "good". This means that students have the ability to write CATs of adequate quality. Because of the significance of medical information regarding clinical decisions and patient care, several limitations of CATs, however, have to be considered. To avoid false, biased or outdated results, students supported that CATs should be revised by experts. This claim is also supported by the majority of the experts who stated "that each CAT should be subjected to a peer review process before publication".

In order to ensure a constant topicality, the CAT-database offers the possibility to update the developed CATs every time new literature is published. On these grounds, this task certainly is a time consuming one and must be distributed among numerous experts.

Ideally, a next step would be involving practitioners in the further development of the CAT-database. For example, they could suggest new clinical questions which in turn could be edited by students. Also practitioners would benefit from training EBVM strategies including systematic literature search, critical appraisal skills and answering clinical questions by developing a CAT. Finally, by offering a quick and easy access to high-quality literature, for example via online services or mobile devices, CAT-databases hold the potential to create valuable help for veterinary practice, research and education. Moreover, by an exchange of knowledge and expertise between the developed German CAT-database and existing international CAT-databases the coverage and quality of available information could be increased further. Essential prerequisite is that veterinary medicine has to become more responsive to the integration of recent literature and to a critical approach of information.

All in all for further studies on discussion, new technology in German veterinary education or the use of CAT-databases and the EBVM concept within the veterinary curriculum, it is recommended to use a greater number of surveyed students and experts, moreover to use more students from different veterinary schools and different study classes. In future research the practical use of the database should be evaluated by practitioners and clinicians. In addition, it would be interesting to learn more about possible limitations of CAT-databases and the reasons why some experts did not consistently agree with the statement that the CAT may be important for decision making in practice. To enhance practical usability of the different CAT-databases, projects that either enable an exchange of CATs or the combination of different databases may foster accessibility of this kind of knowledge summaries.

4. SUMMARY

Cindy Kasch: Teaching Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine – New insights into critical thinking, implementation of writing of knowledge synthesis and use of mobile devices by students

Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine (EBVM) is a relatively new field in veterinary curricula and veterinary practice. The aim of EBVM is to base clinical decisions regarding diagnostic procedures and treatments on recent, valid, clinically relevant research data.

Veterinary practitioners and clinicians should use optimal diagnostics, interventions and medications to examine and to treat their patients. Therefore, they should assess the topicality of their procedures and therapies to treat their patients as best as possible. This means clinicians need skills in observation, manual dexterity, and also other skills such as communication and empathy for patients and owners. Specifically, the EBVM concepts should be incorporated into preclinical and clinical courses.

For the realization of an evidence-based patient care, it is important to know core concepts of EBVM and to be skilled in five steps: formulation of a clinical question, searching for literature, assessing the validity and applicability, the implementation into practice and finally an assessment of whether the new findings have improved clinical practice.

Rather than merely transferring information, veterinary education should stimulate and motivate students and let them think critically. Frontal teaching, however, is still applied frequently in veterinary education which only rarely stimulates student interaction, besides it does not support independent thinking and critical questioning. In addition to the concept of EBVM, the critical thinking, and also the rapid development of new communication technologies has influenced veterinary education already.

One helpful tool to facilitate the access to research results and thereby the implementation of Evidence-Based Medicine (EBM) is a Critically Appraised Topic (CAT). A CAT is a standardized summary of research evidence evolved around a clinical question, generated from a specific patient situation or problem.

The overall objective of the conducted studies was to survey possibilities to include EBVM concepts in veterinary education.

For this purpose three studies were conducted:

- 1. In the first study the research question was, if fourth-year students consider in-course discussion useful and if sufficient possibilities for discussion are provided and supported by their lecturers. The majority agreed or strongly agreed that clinical topics should be discussed during class time. Frequently stated reasons were improved learning and the opportunity to look at topics from different perspectives. In conclusion, a considerable absence of and request for discussion within veterinary education was found. In light of these findings, we emphasize the need for new teaching strategies that promote independent thinking and critical questioning. That suggested the implementation of more discussion opportunities in well considered and moderated settings in veterinary teaching.
- 2. The research question of the second study was to determine adoption and use of mobile devices and online services of veterinary students. According to their answers the majority used a smartphone as mobile device. The data suggested, that most students are familiar with mobile devices and the use of social media, so that new learning strategies could be developed and applied that encompass mobile online learning. These strategies could help to better address different learning types, provide sufficient interactivity and feedback. However, despite promising results reporting a positive educational effect, these perceptions need to be validated in further research.
- 3. The objective of the third study was the development, the use and an evaluation of a German language database for Critically Appraised Topics (CATs). Experts of the European Board of Veterinary Specialization were asked to appraise CATs written by students. A total of 153 veterinary medicine students in their fifth year developed 21 CATs. The majority of the students stated that writing CATs is a good exercise and that it is important to train the assessment of scientific information. Nine out of 13 CATs were graded as 'good'.

In conclusion veterinary medicine should in general be more responsive to the integration of recent literature and to a critical approach of information. Specifically, the development of a CAT by students is a good approach to teach the concepts of EBVM. In consideration of new technologies, the CAT-database can be used by German veterinary students and in the future by practitioners.

5. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Cindy Kasch: Evidenz-basierte Veterinärmedizin in der Lehre: Neue Ansätze, um kritisches Denken zu fördern, das Zusammenfassen aktuellen Wissens zu üben und Einsichten in die Nutzung mobiler Endgeräte durch Studierende

Evidenz-basierte Veterinärmedizin (EBVM) ist ein relativ neues Gebiet, welches im Studium der Veterinärmedizin und der tierärztlichen Praxis immer mehr Beachtung findet. Das Ziel der Evidenz-basierten Veterinärmedizin ist, klinische Entscheidungen in Bezug auf diagnostische Verfahren und Behandlungen auf aktuelle, hochwertige und klinisch relevante Forschungsergebnisse zu stützen.

Tiermediziner sollten auf die optimalen Diagnostika, Medikamente und Eingriffe zurückgreifen, dabei sollten sie diese Eingriffe und Therapien auch auf ihre Aktualität prüfen können, um ihre Patienten bestmöglich zu behandeln.

Neben Fähigkeiten wie einer guten Beobachtungsgabe und manueller Geschicklichkeit sollten Tiermediziner auch gute Kommunikationsstrategien beherrschen sowie Empathie gegenüber Patienten und Besitzer zeigen können. Um dies zu unterstützen, sollten die Konzepte der EBVM frühzeitig im veterinärmedizinischen Studium unterrichtet werden.

Zur Realisierung einer evidenz-basierten Patientenversorgung ist es wichtig, die Grundidee der EBVM zu verstehen und fünf folgende Arbeitsschritte zu üben: die Formulierung einer klinischen Frage, die Suche nach Literatur, die Bewertung der Validität und Anwendbarkeit von Informationen, die Umsetzung in die Praxis und schließlich eine Beurteilung, ob die neuen Erkenntnisse zu einer verbesserten Situation in der Praxis geführt haben.

Darüber hinaus sollte die veterinärmedizinische Lehre nicht nur dem einseitigen Informationstransfer dienen, sondern die Studenten zu selbstständigem Denken motivieren. Bisher wird in der veterinärmedizinischen Lehre vielfach mittels Frontalunterricht gelehrt. Dieser regt die Studenten jedoch weder zur Interaktion an noch unterstützt er das unabhängige Denken und das kritische Hinterfragen. Neben dem EBVM-Konzept und dem kritischen Denken hat auch die rasante Entwicklung der neuen Kommunikationstechnologien die veterinärmedizinische Lehre deutlich beeinflusst.

Ein hilfreiches Mittel für einen besseren Zugang zu Forschungsergebnissen und damit die Umsetzung der Evidenz-basierten Medizin (EBM) stellt ein kritisch bewertetes Thema (Critically Appraised Topic, CAT) dar. Ein CAT ist eine standardisierte Zusammenfassung von

Forschungsergebnissen, basierend auf einer spezifischen klinischen Fragestellung, welche wiederum durch eine spezielle Patientensituation oder Problemstellung entstanden ist.

Anhand der durchgeführten Studien sollten Konzepte geprüft und weiterentwickelt werden, um das EBVM-Konzept vermehrt in die veterinärmedizinische Lehre zu integrieren.

Dazu wurden drei Studien durchgeführt:

- 1. In der ersten Studie waren die Kernfragen, ob Studenten in ihrem vierten Studienjahr eine Vorlesung mit Diskussionsmöglichkeiten wünschen, ob genügend Möglichkeiten zur Diskussion in bestehenden Vorlesungen zur Verfügung stehen und ob Diskussionen von ihren Dozenten unterstützt werden. Die Mehrheit der Studierenden unterstützte die Aussage, dass klinische Themen in Lehrveranstaltungen stärker diskutiert werden sollten. Die am häufigsten genannten Begründungen waren ein verbessertes Lernen und die Möglichkeit, Themen aus verschiedenen Perspektiven zu betrachten. Das abschließende Ergebnis war, dass zum jetzigen Zeitpunkt in der tiermedizinischen Ausbildung ein erheblicher Mangel an Diskussionen empfunden wird, aber ein gesteigertes Interesse an mehr Interaktion gewünscht wird. Im Hinblick auf diese Erkenntnisse ist die Notwendigkeit für neue Unterrichtsstrategien, die unabhängiges Denken und kritisches Hinterfragen fördern, zu betonen. Dabei ist die Umsetzung von mehr Diskussionsmöglichkeiten in gut durchdachten und moderierten Anteilen in der veterinärmedizinischen Lehre vorzuschlagen.
- 2. In einer zweiten Studie sollte erfasst werden, inwieweit Studierende der Veterinärmedizin mobile Endgeräte und Online-Dienste nutzen. Die Mehrheit der Studierenden verwendete ein Smartphone als mobiles Endgerät. Dies bedeutet, dass die meisten Teilnehmer mit mobilen Endgeräten und dem Einsatz von sozialen Medien vertraut sind. Hierdurch ergibt sich die Möglichkeit, neue Lernstrategien zu entwickeln und anzuwenden, die das mobile Online-Lernen beinhalten. Inwieweit ein Lernerfolg durch Onlinelehre erreicht werden kann, sollte in weiteren Studien untersucht werden.
- 3. Das Ziel der dritten Studie war die Entwicklung, der Einsatz und die Evaluation einer deutschsprachigen CAT-Datenbank. Weiterhin sollten Experten des European Boards for Veterinary Specialisation die Qualität von CATs, welche von Studierenden erarbeitet worden sind, bewerten. Insgesamt nahmen 153 Studenten der Veterinärmedizin (in 21 Gruppen) im fünften Studienjahr an der Studie teil. Die Mehrheit der Studenten gab an, dass das Schreiben von CATs eine gute Übung war, um das Beurteilen von wissenschaftlichen Informationen zu trainieren. Neun von 13 Experten bewerteten das CAT, welches ihnen zugeordnet war, als gut.

Zusammenfassend kann festgehalten werden, dass die Arbeit mit aktueller wissenschaftlicher Literatur sowie ein kritischer Umgang mit Informationen in die Lehre der Veterinärmedizin stärker eingebunden werden sollten. Insbesondere die Erstellung von CATs durch Studierende ist ein guter Ansatz, um die Konzepte der EBVM zu vermitteln. Durch Einbeziehung von neuen Technologien kann die CAT-Datenbank von Studierenden der Veterinärmedizin und auch von Praktikern in Zukunft verwendet werden.

6. REFERENCES FOR INTRODUCTION AND DISCUSSSION

- 1. Hardin LE, Robertson S. Learning evidence-based veterinary medicine through development of a critically appraised topic. J Vet Med Educ 33(3):474-8, 2006.
- 2. Dean R. How to read a paper and appraise the evidence. In Practice 35(5):282-5, 2013.
- 3. Darlenski RB, Neykov NV, Vlahov VD, Tsankov NK. Evidence-based medicine: facts and controversies. Clin Dermatol 28(5):553-7, 2010.
- 4. Dong P, Wong LL, Ng S, Loh M, Mondry A. Quantitative evaluation of recall and precision of CAT Crawler, a search engine specialized on retrieval of Critically Appraised Topics. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 4:21, 2004.
- 5. Schmidt PL. Evidence-based veterinary medicine: Evolution, revolution, or repackaging of veterinary practice? Vet Clin N Am-Small 37(3):409-+, 2007.
- 6. Wyer PC. The critically appraised topic: Closing the evidence-transfer gap. Ann Emerg Med 30(5):639-40, 1997.
- 7. Sackett DL, Rosenberg WMC, Gray JAM, Haynes RB, Richardson WS. Evidence based medicine: What it is and what it isn't It's about integrating individual clinical expertise and the best external evidence. Brit Med J 312(7023):71-2, 1996.
- 8. Vandeweerd JM, Kirschvink N, Clegg P, Vandenput S, Gustin P, Saegerman C. Is evidence-based medicine so evident in veterinary research and practice? History, obstacles and perspectives. Vet J 191(1):28-34, 2012.
- 9. Vandeweerd JM, Clegg P, Buczinski S. How Can Veterinarians Base Their Medical Decisions on the Best Available Scientific Evidence? Vet Clin N Am-Food A 28(1):1-+, 2012.
- 10. Muir WW. Is evidence-based medicine our only choice? Equine Vet J 35(4):337-8, 2003.
- 11. Arlt SP, Heuwieser W. Evidence-based Medicine in Animal Reproduction. Reprod Domest Anim 49:11-5, 2014.
- 12. Steele M, Crabb NP, Moore LJ, Reyher KK, Baillie S, Eisler MC. Online Tools for Teaching Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine. J Vet Med Educ 40(3):272-7, 2013.
- 13. Holmes MA, Ramey DW. An introduction to evidence-based veterinary medicine. Vet Clin N Am-Equine 23(2):191-200, 2007.
- 14. Ciliska D. Educating for evidence-based practice. J Prof Nurs 21(6):345-50, 2005.

- 15. Arlt S, Haimerl P, Heuwieser W. Training Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine by Collaborative Development of Critically Appraised Topics. J Vet Med Educ 39(2):111-8, 2012.
- 16. Ismach RB. Teaching evidence-based medicine to medical students. Acad Emerg Med 11(12):e6-10, 2004.
- 17. Rugh JD, Sever N, Glass BJ, Matteson SR. Transferring Evidence-Based Information from Dental School to Practitioners: A Pilot "Academic Detailing" Program Involving Dental Students. J Dent Educ 75(10):1316-22, 2011.
- 18. Slawson DC, Shaughnessy AF. Teaching evidence-based medicine: should we be teaching information management instead? Acad Med 80(7):685-9, 2005.
- 19. Reyher K, Crowthe E, Dean R, Baillie S, Arlt S, Brennan M, Brodbelt D, Brown F, Grindlay, Handel I, Holmes M, McGowan C, Parkin T, Place E, Rees G, Shaw D, Sanchez J, Urdes L, VanLeeuwen J, Verheyen K, Warman S. The Global Resource for Online Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine Learning. In: Doherty M, editor. World Buiatrics Congress, 29th. Dublin, Ireland: Veterinary Ireland,13 The Courtyard, Kilcarbery Park, Nangor Road, Dublin 22; 2016. p. 158.
- 20. McLennan MW, Heath TJ. The role of lectures in veterinary education. Aust Vet J 78(10):702-9, 2000.
- 21. Ronchetti M. Using video lectures to make teaching more interactive. iJ Emerg Tech Learn 5(2):45-8, 2010.
- 22. Bell C, Paterson J, Warman S. Tips for small group teaching. In Practice 36(6):307-9, 2014.
- 23. Stell A. Communication skills training at the Royal Veterinary College (RVC): A review of undergraduate teaching and learning methods. In: Hay DB, editor. London: King`s Learning Institute; 2010. p. 67-78.
- 24. Gillies RM. The effects of cooperative learning on junior high school students during small group learning. Learn Instr 14(2):197-213, 2004.
- 25. Feichtner SB, Davis EA. Why Some Groups Fail: a Survey of Students' Experiences with Learning Groups. 9(4):58-73 1984. J Mang Educ, doi: 10.1177/105256298400900409
- 26. Short N. The use of information and communication technology in veterinary education. Res Vet Sci 72(1):1-6, 2002.

- 27. Valliyate M, Robinson NG, Goodman JR. Current concepts in simulation and other alternatives for veterinary education: a review. Vet Med-Czech 57(7):325-37, 2012.
- 28. Arlt SP, Heuwieser W. Training students to appraise the quality of scientific literature. J Vet Med Educ 38(2):135-40, 2011.
- 29. Cole-Lewis H, Kershaw T. Text messaging as a tool for behavior change in disease prevention and management. Epidemiol Rev 32(1):56-69, 2010.
- 30. Simões JCC. Information communication technology applied to veterinary education in 3 early XXI century, Veterinaria.com.pt,1647-3019. 3(1):1-29, 2010.
- 31. Waeckerle JF, Cordell WH, Wyer P, Osborn HH. Evidence-based emergency medicine: Integrating research into practice. Ann Emerg Med 30(5):626-8, 1997.
- 32. Sechel Ventures. Vet Tech Colleges. Franklin,B.; Restaino,S. < http://www.vettechcolleges.com/blog/20-apps-for-veterinarians >, 2013-2016.; date cited: july-31-2016
- 33. Boutilier P, Fuentealba C, Bauman E, Adams R. Medical and Veterinary students have a positive view of the introduction of mobile device applications as part of the curriculum: Results from a survey of students from four programs In: Technology I, editor. e poster 2015. http://ieposter.com/eposter/1321/medical-and-veterinary-students-have-a-positive-view-of-the-introduction-of-mobile-device-applications-as-part-of-the-curriculum-results-from-a-survey-of-students-from-four-programs.html
- 34. Windish D. EBM apps that help you search for answers to your clinical questions. Evid Based Med 19(3):85-7, 2014.
- 35. Fetters L, Figueiredo EM, Keane-Miller D, McSweeney DJ, Tsao CC. Critically appraised topics. Pediatr Phys Ther 16(1):19-21, 2004.
- 36. Foster N, Barlas P, Chesterton L, Wong J. Critically Appraised Topics (CATs) One method of facilitating evidence-based practice in physiotherapy. 84(4):179–90, 2001.
- 37. Rugh JD, Hendricson WD, Glass BJ, Hatch JP, Deahl ST, 2nd, Guest G, Ongkiko R, Gureckis K, Jones AA, Rose WF, Gakunga P, Stark D, Steffensen B. Teaching evidence-based practice at the University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio dental school. Tex Dent J 128(2):187-90, 2011.
- 38. Kelly AM, Cronin P. How to Perform a Critically Appraised Topic: Part 2, Appraise, Evaluate, Generate, and Recommend. Am J Roentgenol 197(5):1048-55, 2011.

- 39. Richardson WS, Wilson MC, Nishikawa J, Hayward RS. The well-built clinical question: a key to evidence-based decisions. ACP J Club 123(3):A12-3, 1995.
- 40. Naranjo A, de Toro J, Nolla JM. The teaching of rheumatology at the University. The journey from teacher based to student-centered learning. Reumatol Clin 11(4):196-203, 2015.
- 41. Kasch C, Haimerl P, Heuwieser W, Arlt S. Do Veterinary Students See a Need for More In-Course Discussion? A Survey. J Vet Med Educ:1-6, 2015.
- 42. Timperley H. Integration of knowledge and skills. In: Educational Practices Series-18 JB, Michigan State University, United States of America, ed. Teacher professional learning and development: International Academy of education; 2008. by Imprimerie Nouvelle Gonnet
- 43. Eckert J. WAAVP/Pfizer award for excellence in teaching veterinary parasitology: teaching of veterinary parasitology--quo vadis? Vet Parasitol 88(1-2):117-25, 2000.
- 44. Vercruysse J, Eckert J. Teaching of undergraduate veterinary parasitology in some European countries. Vet Parasitol 108(4):309-15, 2002.
- 45. Fernandes TH. European veterinary education: a bridge to quality. Vet J 169(2):210-5, 2005.
- 46. Reyher K, Crowther E, Urdes L, Dean R, Rees G, Handel I, Shaw D, Place E, Brown F, Grindlay D, Arlt S, Sanchez J, Brodbelt D, Verheyen K, Brennan M, VanLeeuwen J, Parkin T, McGowan C, Holmes M. EBVM Learning 2015, Acceptable use. Available from: http://www.ebvmlearning.org/acceptable-use. [26th August 2016]. <>, 2015.
- 47. Simoneit C, Heuwieser W, Arlt S. Evidence-based medicine in bovine, equine and canine reproduction: Quality of current literature. Theriogenology 76(6):1042-50, 2011.
- 48. Sackett DL. Evidence-based medicine. Semin Perinatol 21(1):3-5, 1997.
- 49. Bhandari M, Montori V, Devereaux PJ, Dosanjh S, Sprague S, Guyatt GH. Challenges to the practice of evidence-based medicine during residents' surgical training: a qualitative study using grounded theory. Acad Med 78(11):1183-90, 2003.
- 50. Lam WWT, Fielding R, Johnston JM, Tin KYK, Leung GM. Identifying barriers to the adoption of evidence-based medicine practice in clinical clerks: a longitudinal focus group study. Med Educ 38(9):987-97, 2004.

- 51. Petrisor BA, Bhandari M. Principles of teaching evidence-based medicine. Injury 37(4):335-9, 2006.
- 52. Steinert Y. Student perceptions of effective small group teaching. Med Educ 38(3):286-93, 2004.
- 53. Bale V. How my practice of using manipulatives in teaching multiplying and dividing fractions influences the student's conceptual understanding of these operations.

 Orlando,Florida,http://etd.fcla.edu/CF/CFE0001068/Bale_Vickie_L_200605_MA.pdf:

 B.S.University of Central Florida; 1999.
- 54. Kybartaite A, Nousiainen J, Marozas V, Jurkonis R. WP4:Final report:Development and Testing of New e-Learning and e-Teaching Practices and Technologies. In: Biomedical Engineering Institute KUoTK, (RGI) RGI, editors.: European Virtual Campus for Biomedical Engineering (EVICAB); 2007. p. 1-14,http://www.evicab.eu/outcomes/delivera/wp4metho.pdf.
- 55. De Grave WS, Schmidt HG, Boshuizen HPA. Effects of problem-based discussion on studying a subsequent text: A randomized trial among first year medical students. Instr Sci 29(1):33-44, 2001.
- 56. Gokhale AA. Collaborative Learning Enhances Critical Thinking J Tech Educ 7(1), 1995.
- 57. Elsheikha HM, Kendall NR. Linking theory to practice in an undergraduate veterinary curriculum: students' perspectives. J Vet Med Educ 36(3):291-6, 2009.
- 58. Chun R, Schaefer S, Lotta CC, Banning JA, Skochelak SE. Didactic and experiential training to teach communication skills: the University of Wisconsin-Madison School of Veterinary Medicine collaborative experience. J Vet Med Educ 36(2):196-201, 2009.
- 59. Gikas J, Grant MM. Mobile computing devices in higher education: Student perspectives on learning with cellphones, smartphones & social media. Internet High Educ 19:18-26, 2013.
- 60. Kutscher N. Apps, Facebook, Onlineberatung... Sozial Extra 38(4):39-41, 2014.
- 61. Wallace S, Clark M, White J. 'It's on my iPhone': attitudes to the use of mobile computing devices in medical education, a mixed-methods study. BMJ Open 2(4), 2012.
- 62. Traxler J. Defining, Discussing, and Evaluating Mobile Learning: The moving finger writes and having writ... . IRRODL 8(2):1-12, 2007.

- 63. Bidin S, Ziden AA. Adoption and application of mobile learning in the education industry. In: 90 P-SaBS, editor. 6th International Conference on University Learning and Teaching (InCULT 2012). 2013 ed. Malaysia: Elsevier Ltd.; 2012. p. 720-9.
- 64. Roblyer MD, McDaniel M, Webb M, Herman J, Witty JV. Findings on Facebook in higher education: A comparison of college faculty and student uses and perceptions of social networking sites. Internet High Educ 13(3):134-40, 2010.
- 65. Pempek TA, Yermolayeva YA, Calvert SL. College students' social networking experiences on Facebook. J Appl Dev Psychol 30(3):227-38, 2009.
- 66. Greenhow C. Youth, Learning, and Social Media. J Educ Comput Res 45(2):139-46, 2011.
- 67. Levy P. Cyberculture, R. Bononno, Trans. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.; 2001 p1-245.
- 68. Wasko MM, Faraj S. Why should I share? Examining social capital and knowledge contribution in electronic networks of practice. Mis Quart 29(1):35-57, 2005.
- 69. Wu TT. Using smart mobile devices in social-network-based health education practice: a learning behavior analysis. Nurse Educ Today 34(6):958-63, 2014.
- 70. Smith RD. The application of information technology in the teaching of veterinary epidemiology and public health. J Vet Med Educ 30(4):344-50, 2003.
- 71. Traxler J. Distance education and mobile learning: Catching up, taking stock. J Dis Educ 31(2):129-38, 2010.
- 72. Tella S. M-learning-Cybertextual Traveling or a Herald of Post-Modern Education? Mobile Learning Helsinki:7-21, 2003.
- 73. Dean R, Mackway-Jones K, Wareham K, Grindlay D, Brennan M. BestBETs for Vets: a way to improve the odds of delivering high-quality care. Vet Rec 176(14):354-6, 2015.
- 74. Johnston JM, Leung GM, Tin KYK, Ho LM, Lam W, Fielding R. Evaluation of a handheld clinical decision support tool for evidence-based learning and practice in medical undergraduates. Med Educ 38(6):628-37, 2004.

7. INDEX OF PUBLICATIONS

Research articles:

C. Kasch, P. Haimerl, W. Heuwieser and S. Arlt (2015)

Do veterinary students see a need for more in-course discussion? A survey

J Vet Med Educ, Aug 28:1-6.

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3138/jvme.0415-053R

C. Kasch, P. Haimerl, S. Arlt, W. Heuwieser (2016)

The use of mobile devices and online services by German veterinary students

Veterinary Evidence online, Vol. 1, Issue 3

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.18849/ve.v1i3.41

URL: https://www.veterinaryevidence.org/index.php/ve/article/view/41/69

C. Kasch, P. Haimerl, S. Arlt, W. Heuwieser

Evaluation of a CAT-database and expert appraisal of CATs developed by students, J Vet Med

Educ. (in press, accepted July 2016)

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3138/JVME.0416-083R1

Oral presentation:

Kasch, C.; Heuwieser, W.; Haimerl, P.; Arlt, S. (2014):

The role of discussion in veterinary education.

1st International Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine Network Conference

Windsor / UK – 23.10.-24.10.2014.

Arlt, S.; Haimerl, P.; Kasch, C.; Heuwieser, W. (2014):

Team-based development of Knowledge Summaries for training evidence-based veterinary medicine.

1st International Evidence-Based Veterinary Medicine Network Conference

Windsor / UK -23.10.-24.10.2014.

Poster:

German Medical Science GMS Publishing House, 2014: KELDAT

Hamburg, Mehr Diskussionen in der veterinärmedizinischen Lehre gewünscht?

8. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Als erstes möchte ich mich im besonderen Maße bei Herrn Dr. PD Sebastian Arlt für die Überlassung der Themen, sowie den unzählbaren konstruktiven Anregungen, Hilfestellungen und Korrekturen bedanken. Weiterhin möchte ich mich bei dir, für die vielen praktischen Tipps und aufmunternden Worte in allen Lebenslagen, bedanken. Ich hätte mir keinen besseren Betreuer wünschen können.

Ein großer Dank geht auch an Prof. Dr. Heuwieser für die Unterstützung dieser Arbeit, den kontinuierlichen Antrieb, den Korrekturen und die guten Ideen.

Auch bei meiner Büropartnerin Peggy möchte ich mich ganz herzlich bedanken, vor allem für deine weitumfassende Unterstützung und deine kostbare Zeit die du mir geschenkt hast. Gern erinnere ich mich an unsere zahlreichen lustigen Stunden, auch auf den Kongressreisen.

Der KELDAT-Stiftung danke ich für die großartige Finanzielle Unterstützung. Ein besonderer Dank geht auch an das Kompetenzzentrum für E-Learning, E-Research und Multimedia der Freien Universität Berlin - CeDiS (Das Center für Digitale System) für die finanzielle Unterstützung bei der Entwicklung der CAT Datenbank. Insbesondere möchte ich mich bei Herrn Lyubomir V. Zhivkov bedanken, der mir immer mit Rat und Tat zur Seite stand und jedes technische Problem mit Bravour löste. Eine große Hilfe war auch Dr. Tobias Gäng der Leiter der Veterinärmedizinischen Bibliothek.

Ein großes Dankeschön geht auch an alle Mitarbeiter und Doktoranden der Tierklinik für Fortpflanzung, besonders an Maria Grau; Dorothea Johnen; Sandra Karger; Sandra Bertulat; Anne Rees; Tanita Drenikow; Alina Pohl; Janine Güldenpfennig sowie Laura Schulze, die mich stets unterstützt, die Arbeit vorangebracht haben und immer ein offenes Ohr hatten. Desweiterein möchte ich mich bei allen Studierenden bedanken, die sich so eifrig an den durchgeführten Studien beteiligt haben.

Außerdem möchte ich mich recht herzlich bei meinen gesamten Familienmitgliedern und Freunden bedanken, Sylvia und meinen kleinen Bruder Theo; Anita, Heinz & Petra; Klaus; Oma Editha &Oma Hildegard; der Fam. Schmidt; Roland & Regina; Stephan, Ricarda & den Kindern; Vivien, Lars & Terry; Anne, Tobi & Henry und Meike, die alle stets interessiert und liebevoll Anteil an meiner Doktorarbeit genommen haben.

Dabei möchte ich mich besonders bei meinem Vater bedanken, der immer hinter mir stand und mir stets bewusst gemacht hat, an mich selbst zu glauben.

Außerdem bei meiner Mutter die mich auch immer emotional mit begleitet hat und mich in meinem Vorhaben unterstützt hat.

Ein großer Dank auch an unsere Tierfamilie: Charly, Frieda, Freddy, Fritzi, Levoy, Lilly, Willy und viele weitere Vierbeiner.

Mein größter Dank, geht jedoch an meinen Ehemann, der immer für mich da war, egal welche Hindernisse im Weg standen. Der mich stets ermutigt hat, immer an meine Fähigkeiten und mich geglaubt hat. Ich danke dir aus tiefstem Herzen, ohne dich wäre ich nicht so weit gekommen!

9. DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Hiermit bestätige ich, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit selbstständig angefertigt habe. Ich versichere, dass ich ausschließlich die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfen in Anspruch genommen habe.

Berlin, den 05.04.2017

Cindy Kasch